REPORT ON ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT, DUNBAR HALLS, OLD ABERDEEN

Ten trenches (Plan 1) were excavated in the development area during the period 9-13 May 2005 to determine the survival of elements of the Old Aberdeen Bishops’ Palace.  Constructed in the early 14th century and destroyed by the English in 1336 it was rebuilt about 1459 by Bishop Thomas Spens:  in the mid 17th century the palace was demolished and some of the building materials removed for re-use at King’s College and the fort on Castle Hill in Aberdeen.

The trenches concentrated on the areas to be disturbed by the footprint of the new building (drawing number 58019/GEO/002) and on the areas not assessed previously (Cameron 2002).
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Trench 1

Trench 1 was excavated along the east side of the west wing of the demolished building.  Medieval garden soils were recorded above the subsoil (at c 14.3m OD) suggesting that no medieval buildings had stood in this excavation area.   Trenches for the planting of the trees (still in situ on the site), and holes for trees no longer present on the site, were revealed as well as concrete rubble and a gas pipe.

Trench 2

This was dug to the west of the west wing of the demolished building, the construction of which had scarped this entire area. Concrete foundations and rubble associated with the construction of Dunbar Hall were recorded on top of the sand subsoil which was recorded at 14.33 – 14.21m OD.

Trench 3

This was excavated to the south of the demolished building to determine the extent of the damage to the site during the construction of Dunbar Hall and to check to see if the ditches found during the 2002 assessment (Cameron 2002) continued this far to the south.  The edge of the disturbance caused by Dunbar Hall was located as well as brick foundations and gas pipes, and the sand subsoil recorded between 13.98 and 14.06m OD.  No medieval features were recorded.

Trench 4

This was excavated in the area of one of the wings of the new building.  Two 19th-century trenches or ditches were identified in the centre of this trench.  Sand subsoil was recorded at 13.96m OD in the south of the trench and 14.60m OD in the north.

Trench 5 (Plan 2)

This trench to the west of Trench 4 contained the only well preserved archaeological deposits found on this site.  A stone shaft (AB) within a cellar or undercroft (AA) was excavated.   The undercroft had been dug into the natural sand to a depth of 2.18m and was constructed of very large granite fieldstones, packed with smaller angular stones and bonded with clay.  The east wall of the structure was 1.2m wide but the majority of the north and south walls and the entire west wall had been robbed out in antiquity.  In the south-east corner of the building a stone shaft 1.8 x 2m in size had been constructed.  It was constructed in the same way as the walls of the building and at the same time.  It was excavated to a depth of 1.1m to determine its structure.  The shaft and building had been backfilled with clays including dirty clays from the demolition of the building, but also incorporating lumps of clean clay which was presumably subsoil from the surrounding area which was being excavated at the time that the building went out of use and was backfilled.
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For Health and Safety reasons and also as the proposed building will probably not destroy the stone shaft, it was not fully excavated. Much of the fill of the building was therefore left intact.  As a result it is not possible to fully interpret the stone shaft.  It was probably a well but there is a possibility that the shaft was associated with a ‘bottle dungeon’ (Fawcett 2003).  At St Andrew’s the  ‘bottle dungeon’ was located in the bottom of the Sea Tower and was constructed in the late 14th century.  It had been hollowed out of the rock and prisoners were lowered 7.3m down into the 4m diameter unlit chamber.  The floors above the ‘bottle dungeon’ were refurbished in the 16th century to provide better accommodation for the more wealthy inmates. 

The floor area of Room AA was c 2.90 x 2.60m with the stone shaft taking up the majority of the floor area.  The tower at St Andrews (ibid) was rather larger but the floor area of the room in which the ‘bottle dungeon’ was located was of a similar size to the example under discussion here.  This suggests that the basement was solely for access to this shaft, but the walls would have supported at least a two-storey structure above.  Presumably, therefore, this is the undercroft of a two- or three-storey building, possibly one of the towers seen on Parson Gordon’s map of 1661 and listed in an inventory drawn up by Alexander Lawson dated 4 November 1519 (Innes 1845).

There is no documentary evidence of a well within one of the towers of the Bishop’s Palace.  Sir Samuel Forbes of Foveran ‘Description of Aberdeenshire’, written 1716-7, states it ‘was a large and fair court having a high tower at each of its four corners; an outer and an inner gate; with a deep well in the middle of the court (Robertson 1843).  The above-mentioned inventory refers to a south east and a south west tower, but no well, as the inventory was to list all moveable objects and a well would be considered part of the standing building.

Semi-circular line of stones, AC, was poorly built and not part of a substantial structure.  It may have been associated with the robbing of stone from building AA or may have been a revetment associated with the possible continued use of the well while the building materials were stripped from the structure or thereafter.

Finds from the backfilling of this building contained 13th to 15th-century pottery, roof slates, ceramic roof and floor tiles and animal bones.

Trenches 6 – 10

Five trenches were excavated in the east of the site to assess areas which were unavailable in 2002.  All material excavated was associated with Dunbar Halls; no earlier deposits were identified in any of these trenches.

Recommendations

Trenches were located as near to the walls of the proposed structure as possible but in some cases it was not possible to follow these lines completely.  It is recommended that 

· an archaeologist be present during the digging of the foundation trenches of the new building at the west of the site (in the area west of Trench 6)

· and that the walls of the Bishop’s Palace and the well or ‘bottle dungeon’ remain undisturbed by the redevelopment of the site.
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